I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


The Circuit Court of Preston County (by Special Appointment Judge Andrew N. Frye, Jr.) 

erred in its Orders as follows: 

A. The Circuit Court committed plain error in not applying this Court's numerous holdings 

regarding the review ofmotions for summary judgment, including but not limited to, not 

evaluating the facts presented by the Petitioner and your Plaintiff Below in accordance with this 

Court's holdings regarding reviewing motions for summary judgment. 

B. The Circuit Court erred in applying a "clear and convincing" evidence standard to 

Petitioner's causes of action of breach ofcontract, breach offiduciary duties and constructive 

fraud. 

C. The Circuit Court erred in finding that Petitioner does not have her choice ofremedies 

under Article ill, Section 17 of the West Virginia Constitution and Petitioner's stipulation of 

dismissal of Jason Haskiell M. Haskiell and Ashley M. Kyle as party Defendants to this action 

and Petitioner's dismissal ofher claim for rescission ofthe subject deed have no relevance to 

Petitioner's prosecution ofher claims against the remaining Defendants. 

D. The Circuit Court erred in failing to grant Petitioner's Motion for Leave to File a Second 

Amended Complaint and in failing to consider Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment in 

light thereof. 

E. The Circuit Court committed plain error in denying Petitioner below her right to a jury 

trial and by substituting his own evidentiary assessments thereof for that of the jury. 

F. The Circuit Court erred in finding that the evidence does not establish a breach ofthe 

contractual duties owed by Defendants to Mr. Wolfe. [See Appendix (hereinafter "App." 1 ]. 
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G. The Circuit Court erred in finding that the evidence does not create an issue ofmaterial 

fact regarding a breach of the fiduciary duties owed by Defendants to Mr. Wolfe. (See App. 1 at 

28) 

H. The Circuit Court erred in finding that there is no evidence to suggest that Defendants 

committed a constructive fraud against Mr. Wolfe by any statements or actions communicated to 

Mr. Wolfe during the real estate transaction, or from any omissions that were committed during 

this period. (See App. 1 at 30) 

1. The Circuit Court erred in granting Defendants' Motion for Protective Order and Denying 

Petitioner's Motion to Compel Production ofRecorded Statements ofMeetings Between 

Petitioner, the Deceased Patrick A. Wolfe and Defendants Susan Miller, and Jessica Miller 

Lipscomb.(See App. 33) 

J. The Circuit Court erred in granting the Defendants' Motion in Limine # 3 (Motion flIed 

under seal). (See App. 1 at 44) 

K. Circuit Court Judge Andrew N. Frye, Jr., erred in refusing to recuse himself after making 

statements in a telephonic hearing on a discovery related motion on June 4,2015, which 

indicated bias towards the Defendants' case, and, given the rapidity of the grant of Defendants' 

Motion for Summary Judgment without due consideration ofthe substantial evidence presented 

by the Petitioner, and given the geographic proximity between Judge Frye's home court and 

Kingwood, all ofwhich create an appearance of impropriety and partiality towards the wife of 

the sitting Circuit Court Judge ofPreston County. (See App. 315 and 334) 

2 




II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


A. Procedural History 

On May 1,2014. Petitioner filed her original Complaint in the Circuit Court ofPreston 

County, West Virginia as Administrator of the Estate ofPatrick A. Wolfe seeking rescission ofa 

deed executed by Mr. Wolfe to then Defendants Jason Haskiell and Ashley Kyle and seeking an 

award ofdamages for breach ofcontract, breach of fiduciary duty and constructive fraud against 

the realtors involved in the transaction, Respondents and your Defendants Below, Houses and 

More, Inc., Susan Miller and Jessica Miller Lipscomb (App. 45). Respondent Susan Miller is 

the wife ofPreston County Circuit Court Judge, the Honorable Lawrance S. Miller, Jr,. and the 

owner ofRespondent Houses, & More, Inc. Respondent Jessica Miller Lipscomb is Judge 

Miller's daughter. Judge Miller recused himself upon the filing of the original Complaint. By 

Administrative Order of the Supreme Court ofAppeals of West Virginia dated May 27,2014 the 

Honorable Fred L. Fox IT, Senior Status Judge, was recalled for temporary assignment for the 

purpose ofpresiding over the above styled proceeding. 

By Administrative Order of the Supreme Court ofAppeals of West Virginia dated 

October 28,2014 the Honorable Robert B. Stone, Senior Status Judge was recalled for temporary 

assignment for the purpose of presiding over the above styled proceeding, after Judge Fox 

requested to be relieved of the assignment. 

After Judge Stone recused himself because ofhis acquaintance with Judge Miller and 

Judge Miller's wife, Respondent Susan Miller, the Supreme Court ofAppeals of West Virginia 

by Administrative Order dated December 3,2014 recalled the Honorable Andrew N. Frye, Jr. for 

the purpose ofpresiding over the above styled proceeding. (App.127). 
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On February 12,2015 Judge Frye held a hearing on Respondents' Motion for Protective 

Order and Petitioner's Motion to Compel audio recordings of three (3) separate meetings 

between Patrick A. Wolfe, the deceased, and Respondents Miller and Lipscomb, regarding the 

real estate sale transaction subject of the Petitioner's Amended Complaint. Respondents Miller 

and Lipscomb recorded the meetings without the knowledge of the other participants. (App. 

Court Transcript 2/12/15). Respondents Miller and Lipscomb had disclosed the recordings 

through Interrogatory responses but would not produce them to the Petitioner until after the 

Petitioner was deposed. (App.128 and 136). By Order dated February 21, 2015, Judge Frye 

granted Respondents' protective order and denied Petitioner's Motion to Compel the audio 

recordings. Petitioner took exception and objected to the ruling. (App. 33). Petitioner complied 

with the Order and her deposition was noticed for and taken on April 7, 2015. On April 8, 2015 

Respondent Miller produced to the Petitioner the cd copies of audio recordings of the three 

meetings. CAppo Court Transcript 6/4/15) 

On June 4,2015, Judge Frye conducted a hearing telephonically on Respondents' Motion 

to Strike Plaintiffs Expert Witnesses And To Limit Their Testimony At Trial Or, In The 

Alternative, To Compel Complete Expert Witness Disclosure. l Because of comments made by 

Judge Frye during the hearing, on J~y 7,2015, Petitioner filed her Motion to Disqualify and 

Recuse Judge Frye. (App. Court Transcript 9/16/15 SEALED). By Administrative Order dated 

July 8, 2015, this Court, by Chief Justice Margaret L. Workman, denied Petitioner's Motion to 

Disqualify Judge Frye and directed Judge Frye to continue to preside over said case. (App. 334 ) 

lTbe Circuit Court has yet to enter a written order on this Motion, however, during the hearing he granted 
Defendant's Motion in part (see Court Transcript from 6/4/15 Hearing). 
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On August 20,2015, the Petitioner filed a Stipulation ofDismissal of Jason Haskiell and 

Ashley M. Kyle as party defendants including dismissal of all claims against them, signed by all 

parties to the action. By Agreed Order dated September 4,2015, Defendants Jason Haskiell and 

Ashley M. Kyle were dismissed as party defendants. (App.693) 

On September 16. 2015 the Court held its hearing on Respondents' Motion for Summary 

Judgment and Respondents' Motions in Limine. (App. 337, 343,696,703, 712, 716 and Court 

Transcript 9/16/15 SEALED). By Order dated September 30, 2015, the Court granted 

Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment executing the Order form in toto as submitted by 

the Respondents.(App. 1). The Petitioner now timely perfects her appeal of that Order by filing 

this Brief in support ofher Petition. 

B. Statement ofFacts 

Your Petitioner's uncle, Patrick A. Wolfe, age 85, entered into an agreement with the 

Respondents Susan Miller, Jessica Miller Lipscomb and Houses and More, Inc. to assist him in 

selling the surface of60 acres in Preston County, West Virginia. He did not want to sell his oil 

and gas rights with the surface. 

The Respondents took advantage ofMr. Wolfe's mental debilitation and coerced him into 

selling his surface and minerals for less than half of the fair market value. Mr. Wolfe died three 

(3) days after the closing of the subject transaction with a contributing cause of death as 

"probably alzheimer's dementia" (App. 85, 117, 118) . 

In June 2013, Mr. Wolfe, an 85-year-old retired Terra Alta, Preston County, West 

Virginia middle school educator and coach, retained Respondents/Respondents below Susan 

Miller and Houses and More, Inc., owned by Respondent Miller, to assist him in selling a 60 acre 
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tract of rural Preston County real estate. CAppo Transcript of Deposition of Susan Miller pp 74

75) Mr. Wolfe was a widower and had no children or other close relatives living in the area. 

Respondent Miller is the wife of current Preston County Circuit Court Judge Lawrence S. Miller, 

Jr. and Respondent Jessica Miller Lipscomb is their daughter CAppo Transcript ofDeposition of 

Susan Miller pp 12). Shortly after the property was listed, the Respondents caused Mr. Wolfe to 

enter into a sales contract with the buyers. CAppo 85,91-98) Mr. Wolfe thereafter requested 

Petitioner, a resident ofFlorida, to travel to West Virginia to assist him with the sale because he 

was confused as to whether the agreement was for the surface only or whether it included Mr. 

Wolfe's 3/5 oil and gas interests underlying the 60 acre tract CAppo Transcript ofDeposition of 

Cynthia Van Heyde pp 212-215). 

As part of the process ofMr. Wolfe retaining Respondent Miller as his real estate agent, 

she and Mr. Wolfe executed a ''Notice ofAgency Relationship" dated June 8,2013 which states 

that the Respondents represented Mr. Wolfe, the Seller, and that "the party represented by the 

agent is known as the agent's principal and as such, the agent owes the principal the duty of 

utmost care, integrity, honesty and loyalty. The Notice further states that regardless ofwhom she 

represented, Respondent Miller had, among other duties, the duty ofhonest and fair dealing and 

good faith to Mr. Wolfe CApp.103-104). 

At a meeting in Kingwood on August 19,2013, among Mr. Wolfe, Petitioner Cynthia 

Van Heyde, her husband Robert Van Heyde and Respondents Miller and Lipscomb, Mr. Wolfe 

told Respondent Miller he did not want to sell the oil and gas rights with the surface. CAppo 516 

recording of 8119113 Meeting). Soon thereafter, Mr. Wolfe sent a letter to Respondent Miller, as 

she requested in the meeting, documenting to her that he did not intend to sell the oil and gas 
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rights (App. 113). Mr. and Mrs. Van Heyde, believing the situation resolved, returned to Florida 

(App. Transcript of Deposition of Cynthia Van Heyde pp 278-282). Unbeknownst to the Van 

Heydes, the closing on the subject real estate sale took place on August 28, 2013 (App. 

Transcript of Deposition of Cynthia Van Heyde pp 93). Three days later, on September 2, 

2013, Mr. Wolfe was found dead in his home in Terra Alta. CAppo Transcript of Deposition of 

Cynthia Van Heyde pp 89-92). An autopsy revealed that Mr. Wolfe died as the result of acute 

bacterial bronchopneumonia" with a contributing cause of "probably Alzheimer's dementia" 

CAppo 85, 117, 118). 

Upon learning ofMr. Wolfe's demise, the Van Heydes immediately returned to West 

Virginia and learned that the closing had taken place on August 28,2013 and that the deed Mr. 

Wolfe executed did not reserve the oil and gas rights. (App. Transcript ofDeposition of 

Cynthia Van Heyde pp 89-92). 

Investigation revealed several acquaintances ofMr. Wolfe who had observed remarkable 

decline in Mr. Wolfe's mental state during the last several months ofhis life. Tom Deberry, 

Michelle Hebb and Bradley J. Lipscomb CAppo 832 -841). 

The listing and sales price of $90,000.00 is significantly below the prevailing market 

value for the surface ofthe subject property and the 3/5 interest in the oil and gas underlying the 

subject property given its topography, its location on WV State Route 93, the value of oil and gas 

in the region, particularly the value of the oil and shale gas in the Marcellus and Utica formations 

(App.814-824). 

On May 1,2014, Petitioner, as Administratrix of the Estate ofPatrick A. Wolfe, filed her 

initial Complaint against buyers Jason M. Haskiell and Ashley M. Kyle seeking rescission of the 
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subject deed and brought causes of action against the Realtor Respondents for breach of contract 

breach of fiduciary duty and constructive fraud (App. 45). The Complaint was amended by 

agreement to include Clear Mountain Bank as it held a security interest in the subject property 

(App.85). 

The Amended Complaint alleged causes of action of breach of contract, breach of 

fiduciary duties and constructive fraud against Realtor Respondents for their conduct in handling 

the sale of the subject 60 acres to buyers Jason M. Haskiell and Ashley M. Kyle. (App. 85) 

During discovery, the Respondents disclosed that they had surreptitiously recorded the 

meeting with Mr. Wolfe and the Van Heydes on August 19,2013, a meeting with Mr. Wolfe on 

the morning ofAugust 26,2013 and a meeting with Mr. Wolfe and the buyers in the evening on 

August 26,2013, all without the knowledge of the Van Heydes or Mr. Wolfe. The Respondents 

refused to turn over the three (3) audio recordings until Mr. and Mrs. Van Heyde first agreed to 

travel to West Virginia to give their depositions. (App. 128 and136). By Order dated February 

26,2015, the Court granted Respondent's Motion for Protective Order and denied Petitioner's 

Motion to Compel production of the audio recordings until after the Van Heydes were deposed 

by the Respondents (App. 33). The audio recordings of the August 26, 2013 morning meeting 

reflect, anlong other things, that Mr. Wolfe told did not want to sell his mineral rights with the 

surface for the $90,000.00 contract price; Respondent Miller told Mr. Wolfe of potential 

repercussions to fear, told him he would be sued and advised Mr. Wolfe to avoid conflict (App. 

516 - CD recordings of 8119/13 and two 8/26/13 meetings). 2 Respondent Miller also told Mr. 

2 The CD produced with this Appendix and Brief was copied from the CD attached to Respondents' Motion 
for Swnmary Judgment. The file labeled Wolfe Cony 62913 is the recording of the meeting held on August 26,2013 
at 11:51 a.m. The file labeled Wolfe Kyle Haskiell is the recording of the meeting held on August 26, 2013at 5:00 
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Wolfe that since she now had a dual fiduciary relationship with he and the Buyers, she would not 

take his side in a conflict with the buyers (App. 516 - CD recordings of 8/26/13 at 11 :00 am 

meeting). 

The audio recordings of the August 26, 2013 evening meeting reflect that Mr.Wolfe was 

alone, unrepresented, and was viscerally impaired. Immediately after the meeting started, Mr. 

Wolfe, in an obvious different demeanor than earlier in the day, expressed his consent to sell the 

subject real estate without reserving the oil and gas rights to himself. (App. 516 8/26/13 5:00pm 

meeting). He expressed consent in a debilitated condition under .Respondents' imbalanced 

influence and manipulation. As she admitted in deposition, Respondent Miller is the only person 

who knows truthfully for sure what she said to Mr. Wolfe to get him to come back to the office 

that evening. (App. Transcript ofDeposition of Susan Miller pp 267-268) 

In response to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, Petitioner submitted to the 

Trial Court her response memorandum, copies of all pertinent documents, copies of the audio 

recordings of the three (3) meetings, seven (7) deposition transcripts, reports by the appraiser of 

the subject property and Petitioner's mineral valuation expert, and a report from forensic 

psychiatrist Dr. Bobby Miller, M.D. (App. Transcript of Deposition of Dr. Bobby Miller, Exs. 

12,13 and 14) The Trial Court held a hearing on Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment 

and Motions in Limine and asked no substantive questions. (App. Transcript of 9/16/15 hearing). 

The Trial Court granted Respondents' proposed Order in toto, less than 48 hours after 

submission 

pm. The file labeled "Wolfe Meeting" is the recording ofthe meeting held on August 19,2013 between Mr. Wolfe, 
Respondents Miller and Lipscomb and Petitioner and Robert Van Heyde. 
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Petitioner seeks reversal of the Circuit Court's Order granting the Respondents' Motion 

for Summary Judgment and respectfully requests this Court return the case to the trial docket for 

trial in order to allow the Petitioner her rightful day in court before a jury. 

Petitioner also seeks reversal of the February 26,2015 Order granting Respondents' 

Motion for Protective Order and denying Petitioner's Motion to Compel. The Petitioner also 

seeks reversal of the Order dated September 4,2013 granting the Respondents' Request to File 

Motion in Limine #3 Under Seal and the Court's ruling from the bench granting Motion in 

Limine #3. (App. 44) 

Finally, the Petitioner asserts that Judge Andrew N. Frye should have recused himself 

from this action for bias shown during a June 4, 2015 telephonic hearing and exacerbated by the 

rapidity and content ofhis rulings since then. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court erred in not applying this Court's numerous holdings regarding the 

review ofmotions for summary judgment, including but not limited to, not evaluating the facts 

presented by the PetitionerlPetitioner in accordance with this Court's holdings regarding 

reviewing motions for summary judgment. The trial court improperly took this case from the jury 

by entering summary judgment in favor ofRespondents in disregard of the multiple material 

facts established by the documentary and testimonial evidence that viewed in the light most 

favorable to the Petitioner, establish that there are material facts in issue such to preclude 

summary judgment as to Petitioner's claims of breach of contract, breach offiduciary duties and 

constructive fraud. 

The Circuit Court erred by granting Defendants' Motion for Protective Order and 
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Denying Petitioner's Motion to Compel Production ofRecorded Statements of Meetings 

Between Petitioner, the Deceased Patrick A. Wolfe and Respondents Susan Miller, and Jessica 

Miller Lipscomb thus requiring Petitioner and her husband to submit to depositions by 

Respondents before the recordings were produced by Respondents to Petitioner, thereby causing 

unfair burden upon Petitioner in violation of the W.Va. Rules of Civil Procedure. 

The Circuit Court further erred granting the Defendants' Motion in Limine # 3 

prohibiting any inquiry into Respondent Miller's experience with the caretaking of her mother 

her mother's mental health during her declining years, evidence which is relevant to the facts of 

this matter. 

Finally, Circuit Court Judge Andrew N. Frye erred by refusing to recuse himself from his 

action. The combination of (1) the geographic proximity between Circuit Court of Grant County 

and the Circuit Court of Preston County Circuit Court, (2) the length of tenures of Judge Frye and 

Judge Lawrance S. Miller ill, (3) the statements made during a June 4, 2015 telephonic hearing, 

(4) the unusual Protective Order issued by the Circuit Court in its June 14,2015 Order, (5) the 

lack of substantive inquiry by the Court questioning at the hearing on Respondents' Motion for 

Summary Judgment, and (6) the rapidity and content of the entry of the Respondent's proposed 

Summary Judgment Order without any edits exhibits a bias in favor of the Respondents creating 

an appearance of impropriety and partiality that cannot be overcome without the recusal ofJudge 

Frye. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Petitioners believe that oral argument will assist this Court in its decisional process. 

Petitioners believe that oral argument pursuant to Revised Rules ofAppellate Procedure 20 is 
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appropriate in that this matter involves issues offundamental public importance. Disposition by 

memorandum opinion is not appropriate, as Petitioner requests reversal and remand of the 

decision of the lower tribunal. 

v. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard ofReview 

This Court reviews a trial court's grant ofRule 56 of summary judgment de novo. Syl. Pt. 

1, Painter v. Peaiy, 192 W. Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). "In reviewing summary judgment, 

this Court will apply the same test that the circuit court should have used initially, and must 

determine whether 'it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry 

concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.'" Bennett v. ASCO 

Servs., 218 W. Va. 41,46, 621 S.E.2d 710, 715 (2005) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, Aetna Casualty & 

Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. ofNew York, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963). 

Roughly stated, a "genuine issue" for purposes of West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 

56(c) is imply one half of a trialworthy issue, and a genuine issue does not arise unless there is

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