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

3. The Breach of Fiduciary Duty Claim 

Petitioner claims that Respondent Susan Miller said at her deposition that her responsibility 

as a realtor was '''to the process' and not her clients." (Pet'r's Br. at 23). This is a woeful 
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misrepresentation. First, the question to which Ms. Miller was responding at that point in her 

deposition had nothing to do with Ms. Miller's understanding of her tiduciary duty. Second, 

Petitioner fails to disclose the remainder of Ms. Miller's answer to the line of questioning, in 

which she says precisely the opposite of what Petitioner is contending. The full excerpt from the 

transcript is as follows: 

Q: 	 Okay. Was it your intention in that meeting to convince Mr. Wolfe that he 
should go ahead and carry through with the transaction? 

A: 	 Absolutely not. 

Q: 	 At this point, who stands to lose and gain if you were to accede to hi- -- the 
wishes as expressed in the August 21 51 letter and - and tell the buyers this 
deal's done as it is, Mr. Wolfe will not sell the oil and gas rights? Who was 
hurt by doing that? 

Ms. Blythe: Objection. 

Mr. Williams: Yeah. Objection. 

Ms. Blythe: Speculation. 

A: 	 I'm - I'm not saying anyone is hurt. I'm saying the agreement was 
changing, and my responsibility is to the process. The clients make the 
decisions. 

Q: 	 Mr. Wolfe's already made a decision at a point, has he not? He-

A: 	 He is one side of the transaction. 

Q: 	 He was your first side of the transaction, was he not? 

A: That does not matter. They became equally valuable in dual agency. 

(R., Vol. II, S. Miller Dep., at 236-36 (emphasis added». 

For Petitioner to lift tive words from this exchange, take them out of context, and then 

argue that they create a dispute of fact about Respondent Miller's understanding of her fiduciary 

duty, is absurd. It becomes even more absurd when Petitioner herself points out that Respondent 
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Miller testified clearly that "the client's interest is primary over her own interest, [and] that the 

duty to act in the client's best interests including the client's financial interests over the interests of 

others is paramount." (pet'r's Br. at 23 (quoting R., Vol. II, S. Miller Dep., at 23-28». 

Apparently, what Petitioner is arguing is that Respondent Miller has a disagreement with 

herself that somehow affected the Circuit Court's ability to grant summary judgment. Even 

assuming that such a thing could create a genuine issue of material fact, the record makes clear that 

it is not the case here. Respondent Miller testitied in lucid terms about her understanding of her 

fiduciary duties to her clients. There is no dispute about that understanding in the record of this 

case. 

Petitioner argues that the differences between the appraisal value for the property 

calculated by Clear Mountain Bank's appraiser Robert Williams, the estimate by Petitioner's own 

expert Theodore Streit, and the contract price for which the property sold, evidences a breach of 

the Respondents' fiduciary duty. But as discussed previously, Petitioner could not produce any 

evidence that Respondents deviated from any professional standard in working with Mr. Wolfe to 

establish the agreed upon listing price of $90,000. Petitioner's belief that the property could have, 

or even should have, sold for more is not evidence. 

As the Circuit Court wrote in its summary judgment order: 

[A]s evidenced from the face of the Listing Contract, Defendants' commission was 
attendant on the price negotiated for sale of the property. By adhering to Mr. 
Wolfe's undisputed instructions regarding a quick sale of the property, which 
resulted in a lower commission than if the property had remained on the market for 
the typical list period, Defendants' conduct evidences action in support of their 
fiduciary duty to act according to the client's wishes. The Court rejects Plaintiffs 
arguments that the appraisals performed by Mr. Robert Williams and her own 
expert, Mr. Theodore Streit, evidence a breach of Defendants' fiduciary duty. 
Plaintiff has identified no real estate professional to testify that Defendants deviated 
from any professional standard in working with Mr. Wolfe to establish the agreed 
upon listing price of $90,000.00 in order to reach his expressed goal of a sale within 
thirty days. Instead, Ms. Alexander's expert testimony on this subject IS 

30 

http:90,000.00


unopposed. Further, the Court takes note of Mr. Williams' testimony defining the 
value of property "by what a willing seller will accept and what a willing buyer will 
pay." 

(R., Vol. I, at 26-27 (quoting R., Vol. III, R. Williams Dep., at 15-16». 

Petitioner again argues that Respondents somehow violated their fiduciary duty by 

recording three meetings with Petitioner, Mr. Wolfe, Ms. Kyle, and Mr. Haskiell throughout this 

transaction. Respondent addressed this same argument previously (see supra § IV(B)(l) & (2». 

As Petitioner herself notes, it is legal in West Virginia for a party to record a transaction without 

the permission of all participants. There is no support for the argument that the recording of 

meetings related to a real estate transaction constitutes a breach of fiduciary duty, and no 

reasonable fact finder could have found in Petitioner's favor based on the evidence that 

Respondent created such recordings. 

Rejecting Petitioner's argument that Respondents somehow breached their fiduciary duty 

to Mr. Wolfe by recording the meetings, the Circuit Court wrote: 

The Court further rejects Plaintiffs argument that Defendants' decision to capture 
audio recordings of certain meetings without disclosing this fact to Mr. Wolfe 
constitutes a breach of fiduciary duty. As a preliminary matter, Plaintiff has failed 
to cite any statutory authority or supporting case law which would permit the 
conclusion that the preservation of this evidence constitutes a breach of fiduciary 
duty owed from realtor to client. Instead, Plaintiff concedes that Defendants did not 
violate any statutory provision by capturing these recordings, which are legal in the 
State of West Virginia. Further, Plaintiff has failed to present any expert testimony 
which would suggest that Defendants' conduct was violative of the fiduciary duties 
owed to Mr. Wolfe. Instead, this Court relies on the unopposed testimony proffered 
on behalf of Defendants' expert witness, Barbara Alexander, to conclude that such 
conduct comported with the professional duties owed by Defendants to Mr. Wolfe. 

(R., Vol. I, at 27-28 (citations omitted». 

Although she conceded that she had returned to Florida on August 21, 2013, had no 

conversations with Mr. Wolfe after she left, and was not present at any meetings with Mr. Wolfe 

or Respondents after that date, Petitioner nonetheless represents to the Court that Respondents 
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"press[ ed] the transaction forward in the best interests of the buyers by having a meeting with [Mr. 

Wolfe] alone on August 26, 2013 at 11 :51 a.m. which was also recorded without Mr. Wolfe's 

permission." (Pet'r's Br. at 25). But what it is that Petitioner believes was inappropriate about 

Respondents' conduct at the August 26 meeting is left to speculation. The meeting was recorded, 

so its content is undisputed. (R., Vol. I, at 516). Yet, Petitioner identifies nothing about the 

meeting that she claims was problematic. Certainly, the mere fact that a meeting occurred on 

August 21 did not violate any fiduciary duty. 

The Circuit Court considered and rejected the same arguments that Petitioner makes in her 

brief to this Court. It wrote: "Based on these facts, construed in the light most favorable to the 

Plaintiff, the evidence does not establish a breach of the fiduciary duties owed by Defendants to 

Mr. Wolfe, and it is the opinion of the Court that no reasonable fact finder could conclude 

otherwise." (R., Vol. I, at 28). Petitioner has presented nothing to this Court to justify reversal of 

the Circuit Court's ruling. 

4. The Constructive Fraud Claim 

Petitioner represents to this Court that her "narrative and theory" about the case should 

have been sufficient to defeat summary judgment. (Pet'r's Br.at 27). But this Court has been clear 

that a party's unsupported speculation is not sufficient to defeat a summary judgment motion. 

Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52, 61, 459 S.E.2d 329,338 (1995) (quoting Felty v. 

Graves-Humphreys Co., 818 F.2d 1126, 1128 (4th Cir. 1987)). The nonmoving party to a motion 

for summary judgment "cannot create a genuine issue of material fact through mere speculation or 

the building of one inference upon another." Id at 61 n.14, 459 S.E.2d at 338 n.14 (quoting Beale 

v. Hardy, 769 F.2d 213,214 (4th Cir. 1985)). "Inferences and opinions must be grounded on more 
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than flights of fancy, speculations, hunches, intuition, or rumors." Id. at 61 n.14, 459 S.E.2d at 338 

n.14. 

Petitioner's "narrative and theory" about the case, which is premised on the idea that 

Respondents forced Mr. Wolfe to accept a "lowball" price for his property, is based on nothing but 

sheer speculation. (pet'r's Br. at 27). There is not a fact in the record to support it. On top of that, 

the theory makes no sense. As the Circuit Court noted in its summary judgment order, had 

Respondents been acting to further their own financial interests, they wquld have wanted Mr. 

Wolfe's property to sell for a higher price, which would have resulted in a higher commission. 

(R., Vol. I, at 26). "[I]f the factual context renders [the nonmoving party's] claim implausible - if 

the claim ... simply makes no economic sense - [the nonmoving party] must come forward with 

more persuasive evidence to support [the] claim[.]" Id. at 61, 459 S.E.2d at 338 (quoting 

Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587 (1986)). Petitioner's 

"narrative and theory" about the case makes no sense, economically or otherwise. It was wholly 

insufficient to preclude summary judgment. 

In § V(B)(5) of her brief which concerns her claim of constructive fraud, Petitioner shifts 

from arguing that Respondents breached a duty to Mr. Wolfe by recording certain meetings with 

him to a new argument that Respondents "were involved in the violations of the trust with Mr. 

Wolfe by engaging in recording only certain isolated meetings." (Pet'r's Br. at 27). In other 

sections of her brief, Petitioner argues that Respondents breached certain duties to Mr. Wolfe by 

recording any meetings with him. (Pet'r's Br. at 14-15,21,25). But in this section, she argues 

that Petitioner committed constructive fraud by not recording all of those meetings. (pet'r's Br. at 

27). 
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There are no facts or law to support this argument. As addressed previously, nothing in 

West Virginia law or in any document relevant to this case precluded Respondents from recording 

any meeting to which they were a party, or required them to record every such meeting. Nothing 

in the recordings that Respondents made supports any of Petitioner's theories ofliability. (R., Vol. 

I, at 516). 

The record is undisputed that Respondents created the recordings because they worried that 

Petitioner and her husband were plotting litigation. (R., Vol. I, at 512-15). They were correct, and 

the recordings they made, which are unchallenged in their authenticity and completeness, helped 

Respondents to demonstrate convincingly that Petitioner's theories are entirely without factual 

support. That Petitioner may wish the recordings did not exist is understandable; but as the Circuit 

Court held, there is nothing about the recordings that violates any law or any contractual term. (R., 

Vol. I, at 19-21). Petitioner's arguments to the contrary fail as a matter of fact and as a matter of 

law. 

Petitioner claims that Respondents gave "specific legal advice [to Mr. Wolfe] without 

being a trained and licensed lawyer ...." (Pet'r's Br. at 28). But she does not disclose what that 

alleged legal advice might have been. Certainly, there is nothing in the record to support an 

allegation that Respondents did anything that approached the practice of law. E.g., State ex reI. 

Frieson v. Isner, 168 W. Va. 758, 765, 285 S.E.2d 641, 649 (1981) (setting forth "a general 

definition" of the practice of law). 

Petitioner also alleges that Respondents "steer[ed] Mr. Wolfe away from who he thought to 

be his attorney (Buddy [Turner]) to attorney Neil Reed ...." (Pet'r's Br. at 28). Again, there is 

nothing in the record to support this allegation. To the contrary, the record is clear that Mr. Reed 

drafted the deed because Mr. Turner had indicated that he could not do so because he had earlier 
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drafted the corrective deeds on which the tinal deed would be based. (R., Vol. II, S. Miller Dep., 

at 277-81). As the Circuit Court wrote "PlaintitT has presented no testimony from Mr. Turner or 

Mr. Reed to contradict Ms. Miller on this issue." (R., Vol. I, at 11). 

Petitioner argues that under this Court's decision in Rosier v. Rosier, 227 W. Va. 88, 705 

S.E.2d 595 (2010), "the burden of proof will actually shift to the Respondents on this cause of 

action." (Pet'r's Br. at 28). But Petitioner has missed the requirement that in order for the burden 

of proof to shift, there must be "an indication of fraud." ld. at 102, 705 S.E.2d at 609; Syl. Pt. 10, 

Work v. Rogerson, 152 W. Va. 169, 160 S.E.2d 159 (1968) (holding that "[w]here a fiduciary 

relationship exists and there is an indication ojJraud a presumption of fraud arises and the burden 

of going forward with the evidence rests upon the fiduciary to establish the honesty of the 

transaction.") (emphasis added). Here, as the Circuit Court noted, Petitioner never presented any 

fact from which a reasonable jury could determine that there was an indication of fraud. (R., Vol. 

I, at 31). 

Even if the burden on this issue had shifted to Respondents to show honest conduct, they 

met that burden by presenting clear and unchallenged evidence that there was no fraudulent act, 

statement, or omission by Respondents at any time during the transaction. Respondents presented 

credible and uncontroverted testimony from Mr. Wolfe's counsel, his treating physician, the 

attorney who notarized the deed, and everyone else who attended the closing, all of whom testified 

that Mr. Wolfe possessed sufficient mental acuity to understand the nature of the transaction and 

act on his own wishes. Additionally, Mr. Wolfe's own recorded statements during the final 

interaction prior to the closing confirm his intention to proceed with the sale of the mineral and 

surface interests. 
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The Circuit Court noted that Petitioner "'has identified no affirmative statements or conduct 

committed by [Respondents] in connection with the real estate transaction which would establish 

undue influence on the part of [Respondents] against Mr. Wolfe, or which would tend to deceive 

Mr. Wolfe regarding the transaction." (R., Vol. I, at 30). To the contrary, the evidence 

demonstrated that Respondents upheld their duties to Mr. Wolfe in all respects. There is no 

evidence in the record, direct or circumstantial, that is sufficient to create even an inference of 

fraud. 

Finally, Petitioner appears to concede that she failed to plead fraud with sufficient 

particularity in her Amended Complaint, but she argues that the Circuit Court should have allowed 

her to again amend her pleadings. (Pet'r's Br. at 29). Petitioner has raised the Circuit Court's 

refusal to grant her untimely motion to amend as a separate assignment of error, which is 

addressed infra § IV(C). The Court should note additionally that the Circuit Court did not base its 

summary judgment on the sufficiency of Petitioner's pleading of fraud; rather, it addressed the 

claim on the merits of Petitioner's evidence, or lack thereof. CR., Vol. I, at 29-31). Thus, 

Petitioner's argument that she should have been permitted a further amendment of her pleadings is 

irrelevant. The Circuit Court did not grant summary judgment on Petitioner's constructive fraud 

claim on the mere basis of her faulty pleadings. 

The Circuit Court wrote, "[b lased on these facts, construed in the light most favorable to 

the [Petitioner], the evidence does not establish a constructive fraud perpetrated by [Respondents] 

against Mr. Wolfe, and it is the opinion of the Court that no reasonable fact finder could conclude 

otherwise." (R., Vol. I, at 31). Petitioner has neither pointed this Court to record evidence nor 

presented argument that would raise even a colorable challenge to the validity of the Circuit 

Court's decision to grant summary judgment on Petitioner's claim. 
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C. 	 Petitioner's Motion to Amend Her Complaint Was Untimely, Futile, and Presented 
No Basis for Denial of Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment. 

Petitioner argues that the Circuit Court erred by not granting her the right to tile a second 

amended complaint. (pet'r's Br. at 17-20). She concedes that her motion to amend, which she 

filed just before the hearing on Respondents' motion for summary judgment, was untimely. 

(Pet'r's Br. at 17-18). Yet she states without elaboration that Respondents would not have been 

prejudiced by the tardy amendment. (Pet'r's Br. at 17). 

Petitioner sought to amend her pleadings to include claims that Respondents had

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